

**BURNABY CIVIC EMPLOYEES UNION  
CUPE LOCAL 23**

**CONSTITUTION  
AND  
BY-LAWS**

**Amended: November 2018**

**Chartered by:**

CANADIAN UNION of PUBLIC EMPLOYEES 1963

**Affiliated with:**

CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES

**PREAMBLE:**

*We, the Civic Employees of the City of Burnaby, the public service bodies within Burnaby and Affiliates, believing in the principles and appreciating the benefits to be derived through unity, do hereby adopt and declare the following Constitution and By-Laws for the government of this Local.*

**TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE 1 Burnaby Civic Employees’ Union CUPE Local 23 ..... 3

ARTICLE 2 Objectives..... 3

ARTICLE 3 Local Jurisdiction and Structure ..... 3

ARTICLE 4 Membership..... 4

ARTICLE 5 Officers ..... 6

ARTICLE 6 Duties of Officers..... 7

ARTICLE 7 Nominations and Elections of Officers..... 10

ARTICLE 8 Meetings ..... 12

ARTICLE 9 Shop Stewards..... 14

ARTICLE 10 General Provisions ..... 14

ARTICLE 11 Trials ..... 16

ARTICLE 12 Obligation..... 19

ARTICLE 13 Installation of Officers..... 20

ARTICLE 14 Amendments to the Constitution and By-Laws ..... 20

ARTICLE 15 Amendments to the Financial Policy..... 17

ARTICLE A Committees and Delegates ..... 23

ARTICLE B Member Benefits ..... 24

ARTICLE C Rules of Order ..... 25

ARTICLE D Financial Policy ..... 28

ARTICLE E Balloting Procedures ..... 28

ARTICLE F Order of Business ..... 30

ARTICLE G Approval and Effect..... 30



## **ARTICLE 1                    BURNABY CIVIC EMPLOYEES' UNION CUPE LOCAL 23**

### **Section 1:     Union Name**

The name of this organization shall be "The Burnaby Civic Employees' Union, CUPE Local 23".

### **Section 2:     Charter**

This Local Union is chartered by the Canadian Union of Public Employees and is affiliated to the Canadian Union of Public Employees, British Columbia Division; the Canadian Union of Public Employees Metro Vancouver District Council; the Canadian Labor Congress; the British Columbia Federation of Labor; the New Westminster and District Labor Council.

## **ARTICLE 2                    OBJECTIVES**

This Local Union shall organize all workers within its jurisdiction, endeavor to obtain and maintain continuous employment for its members, protect the integrity of the bargaining unit and maintain just and reasonable working conditions and wages for all its members.

## **ARTICLE 3                    LOCAL JURISDICTION AND STRUCTURE**

### **Section 1:     Jurisdiction**

The jurisdiction of this Local Union shall include all of those workers employed by the City of Burnaby and the Burnaby Public Library who fall within the bargaining unit.

### **Section 2:     Structure**

- a) Within the general structure of this Local Union, there shall be, for the purpose of harmony, discussion and administration, four Divisions; the Outside Division, the Inside Division, the Foremen's Division and the Library Division.
- b) Each Division's membership shall consist of all those employees who work under the certification of that Division.
- c) The Outside Division, known as the parent body by virtue of the Local Union's history, charter and certification, is considered the senior group within the Local Union.
- d) These Divisions are formed to promote the business and affairs of this Local Union as a whole, and not to divide the members.

## **ARTICLE 4                      MEMBERSHIP**

### **Section 1:      Application for Membership**

- a) Every person employed within the jurisdiction of this Local Union may apply for membership provided that this person is employed by the City of Burnaby or the Burnaby Public Library at the time of their application.
- b) Applications for membership shall be made on a form provided by the Treasurer and must be accompanied by an initiation fee unless automatically deducted/submitted by City of Burnaby.
- c) An application for membership in good standing shall be accepted or rejected by vote of the membership at a General Meeting or by a vote of the membership of the concerned Division.
- d) Application or initiation fees shall not be charged to any applicant for membership in this Local Union if the applicant provides a valid withdrawal or transfer card from, and is a paid-up member of, the Canadian Union of Public Employees.

### **Section 2:      Initiation Fee**

As required in the National Constitution, the initiation fee and re-admittance fee to accompany the application for membership, shall be set by the membership from time to time, but shall not be less than ten dollars.

### **Section 3:      Member in Good Standing Status**

A member of the Local Union shall be considered in good standing if:

- a) They have properly applied and been accepted as members; and
- b) They have taken the Oath of Obligation; and
- c) They have not engaged in activities contrary to the Oath of Obligation or to the Constitution and By-Laws and policies of the National Union; and
- d) They are employed and paying Union dues.

### **Section 4:      Entitlements**

Maintaining 'member in good standing' status entitles members to:

- a) Vote in Local Union elections;
- b) Stand for elected office (provided they meet the eligibility requirements);
- c) Participate in educational functions made available through CUPE or affiliated organizations;
- d) Stand for election or appointment as a delegate to conventions and conferences or to represent this Local Union to affiliated organizations;
- e) Be eligible for grants, scholarships or financial assistance provided by the Local Union;
- f) Be eligible to receive the member benefit (retirement, death, wellness baskets);

- g) Be eligible for other entitlement that may be determined by the membership of this Local Union.
- h) All members in good standing in this Local Union shall be provided with a copy of the Constitution and By-Laws and the Collective Agreement.
- i) Any member in good standing may request a copy of the Financial Policy Manual or National Constitution.

**Section 5: Revocation of Member Status**

The 'member in good standing' status may be revoked for failure to comply with all of the requirements of Section 5, or as a consequence of Article 11 - Trial Procedure of this Constitution.

## **ARTICLE 5                    OFFICERS**

### **Section 1:     Officers and Terms**

The Officers of this Local Union shall be:

- a) President, elected for a three-year term;
- b) First Vice-President (Chairperson of the Outside Division), elected for a one-year term;
- c) Second Vice-President (Chairperson of the Inside Division), elected for a one-year term;
- d) Third Vice-President (Chairperson of the Foremen's Division), elected for a one-year term;
- e) Fourth Vice-President (Chairperson of the Library Division), elected for a one-year term;
- f) Vice-Chairperson of the Outside Division, elected for a one-year term;
- g) Vice-Chairperson of the Inside Division, elected for a one-year term;
- h) Vice-Chairperson of the Foremen's Division, elected for a one-year term;
- i) Vice-Chairperson of the Library Division, elected for a one-year term;
- j) Second Vice-Chairperson of the Outside Division, elected for a one-year term;
- k) Second Vice Chairperson of the Inside Division, elected for a one-year term;
- l) Second Vice-Chairperson of the Foremen's Division, elected for a one-year term;
- m) Second Vice-Chairperson of the Library Division, elected for a one-year term;
- n) Secretary, elected for a two-year term, on odd numbered years;
- o) Treasurer, elected for a two-year term, on even numbered years;
- p) Trustees, one from each Division, shall be elected for a two-year term.
- q) Outside and Library Trustees shall be elected in even numbered years.
- r) Inside and Foremen's Division Trustees shall be elected in odd numbered years.
- s) Two (2) Precarious Worker's representatives, each elected for a one-year term.

### **Section 2:     Table Officers**

The Table Officers of this Local Union shall be the President, Secretary and Treasurer.

### **Section 3: Executive Board**

The Executive Board of this Local Union shall be all of the Officers listed in Section 1, excluding the Trustees.

## **ARTICLE 6**

### **DUTIES OF OFFICERS**

#### **Section 1: Signing Officers**

- a) The President, Secretary and when applicable, the Divisional Chairpersons, shall be Signing Officers of the Local Union on all matters pertaining to the Local Union except on matters of the Treasury.
- b) The President, Treasurer and the four (4) Vice-Presidents shall be the signing officers.
- c) The Treasurer and the President shall be the main Signing Officers.
- d) In the absence of either the Treasurer or the President, the Executive Board may direct any of the four Vice-Presidents to be the alternate Signing Officers.
- e) All Signing Officers shall be bonded in amounts deemed appropriate by the Executive Board and approved by the National Union.
- f) The Signing Officers for the Treasury shall hold title to any real estate of the Local Union as trustees for the Local Union.
- g) They shall have no right to sell, convey, or encumber any real estate without first giving notice and then submitting the proposition to a membership meeting and obtaining approval.

#### **Section 2: Full-Time Officer**

The Office of President shall also incorporate the position of Full-Time Officer and includes this position in all references to the position of President elsewhere in this document.

#### **Section 3: Duties of President**

The President shall:

- a) Preside at all General and Executive Board meetings of the Local Union;
- b) Sign all orders on the Treasury as directed by the membership
- c) Appoint all committees not otherwise ordered;
- d) Transact any other such business consistent with the authorities of office as may be necessary for the proper functioning of the Local Union.

#### **Section 4: Duties of Vice-Presidents**

The First, Second, Third and Fourth Vice-Presidents shall

- a) Preside at all meetings of their respective Divisions;
- b) Each shall appoint all committees not otherwise ordered;
- c) Transact such other business as may pertain to their office and which may be necessary for the proper functioning of their Division.

#### **Section 5: Acting-President**

The First Vice-President shall perform the duties of the President:

- a) in the absence of that Officer,



- b) when called upon by the President
- c) In the case of the resignation or death of the President, until the vacancy is filled as provided in this Constitution.
- d) Each of the First through Fourth Vice- Presidents shall succeed and assume the duties of those in succession ahead of them.

**Section 6: Duty to Maintain the Affairs of the Union**

- a) In order to assure the proper functioning of this Local Union, where the President and Vice-Presidents are attending conventions or other functions, one of the Vice-Presidents shall remain to attend to the affairs of this Local Union.
- b) The President, with the approval of the Executive Board, shall determine which of the Vice-Presidents shall remain.

**Section 7: Acting-Chairperson**

The Vice-Chairpersons shall perform the duties of the Chairperson of their Divisions

- a) In the absence of that officer
- b) In the case of the resignation or death of the Chairperson until such vacancy is filled as provided in this Constitution.

**Section 8: Duties of the 1<sup>st</sup> Vice-Chairperson**

The First Vice-Chairpersons shall:

- a) Act as the Chief Shop Stewards of their Divisions
- b) Keep the Chairpersons fully informed of all matters in which they are involved.

**Section 9: Duties of the 2<sup>nd</sup> Vice-Chairperson**

The Second Vice-Chairpersons shall:

- a) Perform the duties of the Vice-Chairpersons in the absence of that Officer;
- b) In the case of the resignation or death of the Vice-Chairperson, until such vacancy is filled as provided in this Constitution.
- c) Assist the other Divisional Officers as necessary, including grievance handling and attending meetings as required.
- d) Shall ensure that Shop Stewards inform new employees of their responsibilities for initiation and application fees.

**Section 10: Duties of the Secretary**

The Secretary shall:

- a) Keep a correct, full and impartial record of the proceedings of each meeting of the General Membership, Divisional Membership and Executive Board;
- b) Receive the minutes of each committee meetings and make these available to the membership;
- c) Be responsible for the presentation of all motions by each Division that must also be

considered by any other Division;

- d) Be responsible for presenting to General Membership and Divisional Membership meetings all motions arising from the Executive Board;
- e) Perform such duties as the Local Union or Constitution may direct.

### **Section 11: Duties of the Treasurer**

The Treasurer shall:

- a) Keep all financial accounts of the Local Union;
- b) Maintain correct and proper records of the membership;
- c) Receive all initiation fees, dues and assessments from members and shall deposit same in the name of the Burnaby Civic Employees' Union, CUPE Local 23, in such a bank as the Executive Board may direct;
- d) Present to the membership at least as often as the April Annual General Membership Meeting, or more frequently as directed by the Trustees, a complete financial statement of the Local Union's expenditures, assets and liabilities;
- e) Perform such duties as the Local Union or Constitution may direct.

### **Section 12: Duties of the Trustees**

The Trustees shall:

- a) Audit the books of the Treasurer per the provisions of the Financial Policy Manual;
- b) Exercise general supervision over the property of this Local Union including an annual inventory audit per the provisions of the Financial Policy Manual;
- c) Examine the books and records of the Treasurer at least quarterly, and shall report to the next regular membership meetings following the end of each quarter on:
  - the condition of the funds and accounts
  - the number of members in good standing
  - the members initiated, expelled or suspended, admitted or withdrawn
  - such other information as they may deem necessary for the efficient and honest administration of this Local Union.
- d) It is the role of the Trustees to make recommendations to the Executive Board but, at their discretion, the Trustees may make recommendations directly to the membership.

### **Section 13: Duties of Precarious Worker's Representatives**

The Precarious Worker's representatives shall:

- a) Keep the Chairperson of their respective Division informed of all matters in which they are involved.
- b) Assist the other Divisional Officers of their respective Divisions as necessary, including grievance handling and attending meetings as required.

## **ARTICLE 7                    NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS OF OFFICERS**

### **Section 1:     General**

The fundamental principles of nomination and election procedures shall be:

- a) One vote per member in good standing;
- b) Confidentiality of votes;
- c) Authenticity of votes;
- d) As much as possible, equal opportunity for all members in good standing to nominate and to vote.

### **Section 2:     Election Notice and Appointment of Elections Committee**

- a) The Executive Board shall appoint an Election Committee of not more than six members, including two each from the Outside and Inside Division, and one each from the Foremen's and Library Divisions;
- b) An Election Notice (including the names of Election Committee members) shall be posted by the first day of March each year;
- c) Members of the Election Committee shall not be Executive Board members nor shall they be eligible to run for Table Officer, Executive Board or Trustee positions.

### **Section 3:     Role of Elections Committee**

The Election Committee shall:

- a) Elect a chairperson from among its members who shall be deemed the Returning Officer for this election;
- b) Be responsible to ensure that all nominees are members in good standing the day following the Nominating Meeting;
- c) Assist the Returning Officer as required;
- d) Receive nominations for Table Officer, Executive Board and Trustee positions;
- e) Forward all nominations to the membership at the nomination meeting;
- f) Forward all letters of acceptance to the nomination meeting;
- g) Forward all recommendations for changes to electoral procedures to the Executive Board before the end of June.

### **Section 4:     Role of Returning Officer**

The Returning Officer shall:

- a) Be responsible for the proper operation of the balloting procedures;
- b) Be responsible for a complete count of the ballots;
- c) Be authorized by the Executive Board to carry out such steps as may be necessary to fulfill his or her responsibilities;
- d) Ensure that proper balloting records and lists are maintained.

### **Section 5: Eligibility for Nomination**

To be eligible for nomination, a member must

- a) Be a member in good standing
- b) Have attended a minimum of two General Membership or Divisional meetings in the previous twelve (12) months;
- c) A member can hold only one elected Officer or Trustee position at a time;
- d) If a current officer or trustee wishes to stand for a vacant position, they shall vacate their current position on the date of election.
- e) For the two (2) precarious worker's representatives, the nominated member(s) must be working as either a Temporary Full Time, Permanent Part Time, or Auxiliary worker at the time of their nomination and for the duration of their term if elected.

### **Section 6: Nominations**

- a) The General Membership Meeting held in March shall be deemed the Nomination Meeting;
- b) Nominations can be made from the floor of the Nomination Meeting;
- c) Nominations shall only be made by members in good standing;
- d) Nominations for Divisional Officers and Trustees may only be made by members of that Division;
- e) A member shall only be nominated for one position;
- f) A member who is eligible for nomination but is unable to attend the Nomination Meeting shall, by signed letter or email, notify the Election Committee of their intention to stand for office should they be nominated.

### **Section 7: Elections**

- a) Balloting shall take place day prior to the Annual General Membership Meeting;
- b) Secret balloting shall take place at the Local Union Office or a location designated by the Election Committee, between the hours of eight o'clock in the morning and eight o'clock in the evening;
- c) Each Division's membership shall consist of all those employees who work under the certification of that Division;
- d) Only members in good standing are eligible to vote;
- e) When two or more nominees are to be elected to any office by ballot, each member voting shall be required to vote for the full number of candidates to be elected or the member's ballot will be declared spoiled;

### **Section 8: Election Results**

- a) The candidate who receives a simple majority of votes cast, will have been elected;

- b) The results of each election shall be announced at the Annual General Membership Meeting, at which time, the newly-elected Officers shall be sworn in;
- c) The outgoing Table Officers shall retain their position until the end of April and shall work with the newly-elected Officers for the purpose of ensuring a full and orderly transfer of responsibilities;
- d) In the event that a Division fails to elect any of its officers pursuant to the above, the President shall appoint an officer or officers from the Division concerned on a temporary basis for a period not longer than 60 days until a by-election can take place;
- e) In the event of a tie vote for a position, a run-off vote will be held prior to the May membership meeting and the results announced at the May membership meeting;

**Section 9: Vacancies**

- a) If for any reason a position other than the position of President, Secretary or Treasurer becomes vacant, the vacancy shall be filled for the duration of the term by an appointment of the President, with the approval of the Executive Board for a period no longer than 60 days until a by-election can be held;
- b) Should the position of President become vacant for any reason, an assumption of duties subject to Article 6, Section 6, shall apply for a period no longer than 60 days until a by-election can be held;
- c) In the event that an assumption of duties by seniority is not practicable, the Executive Board shall appoint from the membership to temporarily fill the vacant position for a period no longer than 60 days until a by-election can be held;
- d) An election must be held within sixty (60) days to fill the vacant position.
- e) Should the position of Secretary or Treasurer become vacant for any reason, the Executive Board shall appoint from the membership to temporarily fill the vacant position for a period of no longer than 60 days until a by-election can be held;
- f) Subsequent to such appointment, an election must be held within sixty (60) days to fill the vacant position.

**ARTICLE 8 MEETINGS**

**Section 1: General Membership Meetings**

- a) General membership meetings shall be held once per month except during the months of July, August and December.
- b) General membership meetings shall be held on the third Wednesday of each month at a time and place designated by the President in consultation with the Executive Board.
- c) Where it is not possible to hold a meeting on the third Wednesday an alternate time and date will be arranged by the President in consultation with the Executive Board.
- d) In order to facilitate attendance by all members, a minimum of two General Membership meetings shall take place on a Saturday.

## **Section 2: Quorum**

- a) The quorum for a general membership meeting shall be twice the number of Executive Board positions plus one additional member, for a total of thirty-one.
- b) The quorum for a Divisional meeting shall be eleven members, including the Officers of that Division, but excluding the Table Officers.
- c) The quorum for an Executive Board meeting shall be a majority of the positions on the Board, with at least one Officer from each Division represented.
- d) Where a quorum is not obtained at a Local Union membership meeting:
  - the Executive Board shall be empowered to conduct the business of the Local Union, including financial transactions (subject to the Financial Policy Manual), as may be necessary until a quorum is achieved at the next regularly scheduled meeting
  - A record of the meeting (noted as 'without quorum') will be included in the President's Report to the next Executive and General Membership meetings.

## **Section 3: Annual General and Extraordinary Meetings**

- a) The President shall be responsible for calling an Annual General Membership Meeting during the month of April, at a time and place approved by the Executive Board.
- b) An extraordinary membership meeting may be called at the discretion of the President or must be called upon receipt by the Executive Board of a petition requesting such a meeting signed by a minimum of twenty members in good standing.
- c) Any such meeting so requested shall be held as soon as reasonably possible.

## **Section 4: Divisional Meetings**

- a) Divisional meetings may be called at any time at the discretion of a Division's Executive or must be called upon by receipt by the Division of a petition requesting such a meeting signed by a minimum of ten members in good standing.
- b) Any such meeting so requested shall be held as soon as reasonably possible.

## **Section 5: Sergeant-at-Arms Committee**

- a) For the purpose of ensuring order at membership meetings, a Sergeant-at-Arms Committee shall be appointed each year subsequent to the Annual General Membership Meeting;
- b) This Committee shall comprise four members, one member and appointed by each Division;
- c) The duties of the Sergeant-at-Arms shall:
  - Prevent persons who are not current members in good standing from entering a membership meeting unless requested to do so by one of the Table Officers;
  - Prevent members from leaving a membership meeting during the taking of a

- vote without the express permission of the Presiding Officer;
- Be responsible for the distribution and collection of applications for membership;  
(The collection of fees shall be the sole responsibility of the Treasurer);
- To assist in balloting as required;
- To act under the direction of the Presiding Officer at membership meetings as necessary to ensure orderly proceedings.

## **ARTICLE 9                    SHOP STEWARDS**

### **Section 1:     Appointment**

- a) The Vice-Chairperson of each Division is authorized to appoint one or more Shop Stewards. This does not preclude the election of Shop Steward at the discretion of the Division concerned.
- b) The number of Shop Stewards representing any particular group shall be determined by the circumstances and problems of the members concerned.

### **Section 2:     Duties**

- a) It is the duty of the Shop Steward to know the Divisional Collective Agreement, Local Union Constitution, By-Laws and Rules thoroughly and to work for their enforcement.
- b) Shop Stewards shall be responsible for distributing notices approved by the Executive Board and received from the Divisional Vice-Chairperson.
- c) A Shop Steward may at any time take up a grievance on behalf of another member to a supervisor, superintendent or department head;
- d) Where a grievance cannot be settled by such representation, the matter shall be referred to the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson.
- e) In all cases, the Vice-Chairperson shall be kept informed as to all matters handled by a Shop Steward.

### **Section 3:     Shop Steward Committee**

- a) Shop Stewards shall meet as a group at least once per month, at a time and place designated by the Divisional Vice-Chairperson;
- b) The Vice-Chairperson shall preside at these meetings and report at Divisional or Local Union membership meetings on the business of the Shop Stewards.

## **ARTICLE 10                  GENERAL PROVISIONS**

### **Section 1:     Dues**

The regular Union dues for each member of this Local Union shall be 2.0% of gross salary.

## **Section 2: Assessments**

- a) General assessments may be levied from time to time as deemed necessary by the Local Union membership, only after a notice of motion.
  
- b) Such notices shall be distributed by the Executive Board to Shop Stewards who shall be responsible for posting them in their areas.

## **Section 3: Officer/Trustee Attendance**

Should any Officer or Trustee fail to answer the roll call for three consecutive regular Executive Board, Local Union membership or Divisional meetings, at which they are expected to attend, without having good cause for his or her absence, his or her office shall be declared vacant and shall be filled in accordance with Article 7.

## **Section 4: Leave of Absence**

- a) Should an Officer or Trustee take a leave of absence from his or her employment, or is seconded to or employed on a temporary basis by CUPE or any other organization to which this Local Union is affiliated and his or her absence is of thirty calendar days or longer, that Officer or Trustee is required to temporarily cede their office to their successor in accordance with Article 6. Upon his or her return, that person will be fully re-instated to his or her office.
  
- b) Should an Officer or Trustee take a leave of absence from his or her employment, or is seconded to or employed on a temporary basis by CUPE or any other organization to which this Local Union is affiliated and his or her absence is of 90 calendar days or longer, that Officer or Trustee is required to permanently cede their office to their successor.

## **Section 5: Shop Steward Authority**

Any member, on being reproached by a Shop Steward concerning a breach of the Constitution, By-Laws of this Local Union or the Collective Agreement, or who disparages, insults or otherwise does not recognize the authority of a Shop Steward may be liable to the discipline of the Local Union membership.

## **Section 6: Picket Line**

- a) Any member, who violates an authorized picket line without sanction of the Executive Board or Strike Committee in charge of the strike, shall no longer be considered a member in good standing;
  
- b) Reinstatement as a member of good standing shall be in accordance with Article 11.

## **Section 7: Rules of Order**

- a) All rules and procedures not described in this document shall be decided in accordance with "Bourinot's Rules of Order".
  
- b) It shall be the responsibility of the Secretary to ensure that a copy of "Bourinot's Rules of Order" is available for reference at every meeting.



## **ARTICLE 11            TRIALS**

### **Section 1:     Cause of Hearing**

- a) A member who fails to comply with the Constitution or By-Laws of this Local Union, may be reprimanded, suspended or expelled from membership according to the judgment of the Executive Board.
- b) Every member of the Local Union shall be entitled to a fair and impartial hearing as prescribed in the Trial Procedures of the National Constitution of the Canadian Union of Public Employees.
- c) The hearing may be in front of the Executive Board or before a Local Union membership meeting as desired by the accused.

### **Section 2:     Trial**

- a) Offences against the Constitution of this Local Union shall include, but not be limited to, those enumerated in the “Trials” portion of the National Constitution.
- b) The procedures for trials shall be as enumerated in the “Trials” portion of the National Constitution.
- c) In all cases, the onus of establishing the guilt of the accused shall be upon the accuser.

### **Section 3:     Offences**

Every member of a Local Union is guilty of an offense against the constitution who:

- a) Violates any provision of this constitution;
- b) Obtains membership through fraudulent means or misrepresentation;
- c) Institutes, urges or advocates that a member or any Local Union should engage in an action in a court of law against the Canadian Union of Public Employees, or against the National Executive Board or any of its officers, or against a Local Union or any of its members, in respect of any matter concerning the affairs of the Canadian Union or any of its Locals or chartered bodies without first exhausting all remedies through the forms of appeal provided in the Nation Constitution;
- d) Advocates or attempts to bring about the withdrawal from the Canadian Union of Public Employees of any Locals or any members or groups of members;
- e) Publishes or circulates among the membership, either verbally or otherwise, false reports or misrepresentations concerning any member in respect to any matter connected with the affairs of the Canadian Union of Public Employees;
- f) Works in the interests of any organization competing with the Canadian Union of Public Employees in a matter detrimental to the Canadian Union;

- g) Fraudulently receives or misappropriates any property of the Canadian Union or of any of its chartered bodies;
- h) Uses the name of the Canadian Union, or of a Local, to solicit funds or for advertising, without proper authority;
- i) Furnishes, without receiving proper authority, a complete or partial list of the membership of the Canadian Union or of any Local to any person or persons other than those whose official position entitles them to have such a list;
- j) Wrongfully interferes with any Officer or any accredited Representative of the Canadian Union in the discharge of his or her duties;
- k) Circulates reports designed or calculated to injure or weaken the Canadian Union or a Local Union
- l) Circulates reports designed or calculated to impede the implementation of any policy, constitutionally formed, of either the Canadian Union or a Local Union,
- m) Commits any act contrary to the Constitution or to the By-Laws of any chartered body or fails to take action on matters required of him or her by the said Constitution or By-Laws;

Any member convicted of one or more of the above offences may be reprimanded, fined, removed from office, suspended or expelled.

#### **Section 4: Process**

- a) If it is alleged that a member or Officer of a Local Union has committed an offense against this Constitution, specific charges must be submitted in writing and signed by the accuser (who must be a member in good standing) to the Recording Secretary of the Local Union within ninety (90) days after the alleged violation has been discovered.
- b) The Recording Secretary shall cause the charges to be delivered to the accused, signed by the Recording Secretary, either personally or by registered mail within three (3) weeks after they are received.
- c) The charges, together with the notice of the time and place of the trial, shall be delivered to the accused at least two weeks before the date of the trial.
- d) For the purposes of this Article, the charges and the notice shall be deemed to have been delivered when they are either personally served to the accused or when they are delivered by registered mail.

#### **Section 5: Trial Committee**

- a) A panel of eleven (11) members in good standing shall be elected from the membership of the Local Union at a regularly constituted meeting.
- b) All members of the panel must permit their names to stand for possible selection to the Trial Committee.
- c) The names of the panel members shall be placed in a ballot box and the First Vice-President shall draw the names from the ballot box, one at a time. As each name is

drawn from the ballot box, the First Vice-President shall call out the name.

- d) The accused and the accuser shall each be entitled to challenge three members as their names are drawn from the ballot box, with the accused having the right to challenge first.
- e) When five (5) names have been drawn unchallenged, these five shall constitute the Trial Committee.
- f) The Trial Committee shall determine the guilt or innocence of the accused.

**Section 6: Charges against Officers**

- a) For the purposes of this Article, if the charges are laid against the Recording Secretary, then his or her functions shall be carried out by the President.
- b) If the charges are laid against the First Vice-President, then his or her functions shall be carried out by the President.
- c) If the charges are against the President, First Vice-President and the Recording Secretary, then the functions to be performed by them shall be carried out by such member or members as may be appointed by the National President.

**Section 7: Trial**

- a) The Trial Committee shall proceed to hear the charges, in camera, within fourteen (14) days from the date of the meeting at which the Trial Committee was selected.
- b) If necessary, the trial may proceed with a quorum of four (4) members of the Trial Committee.
- c) The accused and the accuser shall each have the right to be present and shall also have the right to retain counsel of their own choosing, provided however, that person is a member in good standing of the trade union movement.
- d) The accused and accuser shall have the right to call witnesses.
- e) If the accused fails to appear before the Trial Committee without providing a satisfactory explanation, the Committee may proceed to hear evidence and render a decision in the absence of the accused or adjourn the hearing.
- f) If the accuser fails to appear before the Trial Committee, the Committee may dismiss the charges or adjourn the hearing.
- g) The accuser shall present his or her evidence first and the accused shall have the right to cross-examine any witnesses called by the accuser.
- h) After the accuser has presented his or her evidence to the Trial Committee, the accused may present his or her evidence and the accuser shall have the same right of cross examination.
- i) The Trial Committee shall find the accused guilty or not guilty by means of secret ballot and it shall be necessary to have four (4) members of the Committee cast their votes against the accused in order to find the accused guilty.
- j) If fewer than four (4.) members of the Committee cast their votes against the accused,

then the accused shall be deemed not guilty.

- k) If the Trial Committee finds the accused not guilty of the charges submitted, the decision shall be announced at the next General Membership Meeting and shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. This decision will be final and no appeal may be filed by the accuser.
- l) If the Trial Committee finds the accused guilty of the charges submitted, then it shall also recommend the punishment.
- m) The decision and the punishment shall be reported to the next General Membership Meeting at which time the membership may confirm or alter the punishment recommended by the Committee.

### **Section 8: Appeal**

- a) The accused may appeal either against the conviction or the punishment, or both, to the National Executive Board within sixty (60) days from the date at which the decision of the Trial committee was reported to the Local Union membership.
- b) The appeal shall be in writing, fully stating the grounds upon which the appeal is based.
- c) A copy of the appeal shall be sent to the Recording Secretary of the Local Union who shall, immediately upon receipt of the appeal, forward a copy of the original charges, the evidence and the verdict to the National President of the Canadian Union of Public Employees and to the accused, who shall now be referred to as the appellant.
- d) The appellant and the respondent (accuser) shall have the right to appear before the National Executive Board and shall be notified, by registered mail, of the time and place when the appeal is to be heard. Notice of the appeal shall be given one month before the date set for such appeal.
- e) The decision on the appeal shall be delivered by the National Executive Board within sixty (60) days after the hearing. Its decision shall be final and binding.
- f) The costs and expenses involved in appearing in front of the National Executive Board shall be borne by the appellant, if found guilty, or by the Local Union if the appeal is allowed.
- g) The decision of the National Executive Board shall be reported to the Recording Secretary of the Local Union. If the appeal has been allowed, the records of the Local Union shall be amended so as to expunge the previous conviction.

## **ARTICLE 12 OBLIGATION**

- a) All applicants for membership to this Local Union shall be initiated and take the Oath of Obligation in the following manner:  
  
*Presiding Officer: "Sergeant at Arms, retire and introduce the applicants." (The Sergeant at Arms then retires and escorts the applicants into the assembly, in front of the membership.*

- b) The Presiding Officer asks the membership to stand and witness the initiation of the applicants.
- c) The Installing Officer (the Presiding Officer or designate) will then ask the applicants “Are you willing to subscribe to an Obligation to this Union?” Upon receiving a satisfactory answer from each of the applicants, the Installing Officer will proceed with the Obligation, requiring the applicants to repeat the same, word for word.

**Obligation:**

*I, ....., solemnly promise and declare that I will support and obey the Constitution of this Local Union; That I will strive to improve economic and social conditions for my fellow members and for working people generally; That I will defend and strive to extend the democratic rights and liberties of all working people; That I will not purposely or knowingly wrong, or assist others in wronging a member of the Union.*

**ARTICLE 13                   INSTALLATION OF OFFICERS**

The newly elected officers shall take their place in front of the Presiding Officer.

**Installing Officer:**

*“Fellow members, repeat after me the following obligation:*

*“I, ....., sincerely promise that I will truly and faithfully, and to the best of my ability, perform the duties of my Office for the ensuing term as prescribed in the Constitution and By-Laws of this Union; and, as an Officer of this Union, will endeavor both by my counsel and example, to promote the harmony and preserve the dignity of its session. I further promise that at the close of my official term, I will promptly deliver any monies or property of this Union in my possession to my successor in office.”*

**ARTICLE 14                   AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS**

**Section 1:     Amendments**

- a) All proposed amendments to the Constitution and By-Laws must be submitted to the Union Office by the first Wednesday of September.
- b) Any proposed amendments not originated by the Constitution Committee or the Trustees’ Committee will be immediately forwarded to either of those committees, where applicable, for review.
- c) The Executive Board will provide its opinion, if any, on the proposed amendment to the respective committees no later than the second Wednesday of September.
- d) The President, with the approval of the Executive Board, may call for a special information meeting to discuss the proposed amendments.
- e) Committee recommendations must be made prior to the General Membership Meeting

in September.

- f) Proposed amendments, with or without committee recommendations, will be announced at the September General Membership Meeting.
- g) The lack of committee recommendations will not delay the announcement of proposed amendments.

### **Section 2: Notice of Motion**

- a) A Notice of Motions on proposed amendments shall be posted for all Union members by October 1.
- b) The Notice of Motions shall contain the list of Articles/Sections for which amendments are proposed.
- c) The Notice of Motions shall be posted at all worksites and on the CUPE Local 23 website.
- d) The Notice of Motions must be signed by two members in good standing.
- e) All amendments referred to in the Notice of Motions shall be made available at the Union Office and on the CUPE Local 23 website.
- f) The proposed amendments referenced in the Notice of Motions will be put to vote at the October General Membership Meeting.
- g) The President, with the approval of the Executive Board, may call for a special information meeting to discuss the proposed amendments.
- h) All amendments to the Constitution and By-Laws require a two thirds majority vote of those members in attendance in order to pass.
- i) If quorum is not achieved at the October General Membership Meeting, the Notice of Motions shall be reposted at least two weeks before the November Membership Meeting.
- j) If quorum is not achieved at the November General Membership Meeting, the Notice of Motions cannot be reintroduced until the following year, following the previous process in Sections One through Four of this Article.

### **Section 3: Record of Amendments**

- a) The Secretary shall record all amendments to the Constitution and By-Laws that have been adopted by this Local Union in the minutes of the meeting at the time that they occur.
- b) The Secretary shall also record the amendments that are adopted between the printings of the Constitution and By-Laws in a book kept for this purpose.
- c) This book shall be made available at every Executive Board, Local Union membership and Divisional meeting.

## **ARTICLE 15 AMENDMENTS TO THE FINANCIAL POLICY**

### **Section 1: Amendments**

- a) All proposed amendments to the Financial Policy Manual must be submitted to the Union Office by the first Wednesday of May.
- b) Any proposed amendments not originated by the Executive Board or the Trustees' Committee will be immediately forwarded to either of those committees, where applicable, for review.
- c) The Executive Board will provide its opinion, if any, on the proposed amendment to the respective committees no later than the second Wednesday of May.
- d) The President, with the approval of the Executive Board, may call for a special information meeting to discuss the proposed amendments.
- e) Committee recommendations must be made prior to the General Membership Meeting in May.
- f) Proposed amendments, with or without committee recommendations, will be announced at the May General Membership Meeting.
- g) The lack of committee recommendations will not delay the announcement of proposed amendments.

**Section 2: Notice of Motion**

- a) Notices of Motion on proposed amendments shall be posted for all Union members by June 1.
- b) All Notices of Motion must be signed by two members in good standing.
- c) Notices of Motion will be put to vote at the June General Membership Meeting.
- d) The President, with the approval of the Executive Board, may call for a special information meeting to discuss the proposed amendments.
- e) All amendments to the Financial Policy Manual require a two thirds majority vote of those members in attendance in order to pass.
- f) If quorum is not achieved at the June General Membership Meeting, the Notices of Motion shall be reposted at least two weeks before the September Membership Meeting.
- g) If quorum is not achieved at the September General Membership Meeting, the Notices of Motion cannot be reintroduced until the following year, following the previous process in Sections 1 through 4 of this Article.

**Section 3: Record of Amendments**

- a) The Secretary shall record all amendments to the Financial Policy Manual that have been adopted by this Local Union in the minutes of the meeting at the time that they occur.
- b) The Secretary shall also record the amendments that are adopted between the printings of the Financial Policy Manual in a book kept for this purpose.
- c) This book shall be made available at every Executive Board, Local Union membership and Divisional meeting.

## BY-LAWS

### ARTICLE A COMMITTEES AND DELEGATES

#### Section 1: Ex-officio

- a) The President shall be ex-officio to all committees of this Local Union, except the Labour Liaison Committee and the Trustees Committee.
- b) The Chairpersons of Divisions shall be ex-officio to all committees of their Divisions.

#### Section 2: Constitution and By-Laws Committee

The Constitution and By-Laws Committee shall:

- a) Be a standing committee;
- b) Be comprised of five members including one member appointed from each Division plus an Executive Board member;
- c) Be responsible to submit recommendations to the Executive Board for all amendments to the Constitution and By-Laws as deemed necessary.

#### Section 3: Negotiating Committee

A Negotiating Committee shall:

- a) Be formed prior to the expiry of the current Collective Agreement;
- b) Be comprised of the President, the Chairpersons of each Division, plus two additional members from each Division elected by their respective Divisions.
- c) Fill any vacancy due to the inability of any member to serve, through appointment by the President in consultation with the applicable Division Chairperson.

#### Section 4: Retired Members Association

- a) A member who was in good standing at the time of their retirement, may apply to be a member of the Retired Members Association;
- b) Once approved by the membership, the Retired members may attend Union meetings with voice but no vote.
- c) The Retired Member Association may elect their delegates to represent our local to Retired Members' Organizations within the Trade Union Movement.



### **Section 5: Grievance Committee**

A Grievance Committee for each Division shall:

- a) Be comprised of the President, the Chairperson and Vice-Chairpersons of each Division and the Business Agent.
- b) Appoint additional members at the discretion of the Division concerned.
- c) The Business Agent shall have no vote in any matters presented to the Joint Grievance Committee.

### **Section 6: Joint Grievance Committee**

The Joint Grievance Committee shall be comprised of all members of the Grievance Committee.

- a) The Business Agent shall have no vote in any matters presented to the Joint Grievance Committee.

### **Section 7: Labour Liaison Committee**

A Labour Liaison Committee shall:

- a) Be comprised of the Chairperson of each Division.
- b) Be responsible for representing the Local Union membership in negotiating working conditions and remuneration for employees of the Local including the President and any other employees of the Local Union as applicable;
- c) Receive a copy of the CUPE BC-COPE378 Collective Agreement.

### **Section 8: Committees**

Committees shall:

- a) Be formed or altered as deemed necessary upon approval by the Executive Board.
- b) Appoint a chairperson and recorder;
- c) It shall be the responsibility of all committees of this Local Union to keep minutes of their proceedings and forward these to the Secretary.

### **Section 9: External Affiliations, Committees or Councils**

- a) The Executive Board shall recommend, as required, their nominees for appointments as delegates to the various external affiliations, other committees or councils;
- b) The recommendations will be put before the membership to accept, amend or reject.
- c) In exceptional circumstances, the Executive Board shall have the authority to make temporary appointments.

## **ARTICLE B MEMBER BENEFITS**

### **Section 1: Death Benefit**

- a) Upon the death of a member in good standing, a death benefit shall be paid to the member's beneficiary as dictated by the member's estate.

- b) The amount of the death benefit shall be determined from time to time by the membership and shall be set out in the Financial Policy Manual.

**Section 2: Retirement Benefit**

- a) Upon the recognized retirement of a member in good standing-with at least ten years of membership in the Local Union, a retirement benefit shall be paid.
- b) The amount of the retirement benefit shall be determined from time to time by the membership and shall be set out in the Financial Policy Manual.

**ARTICLE C RULES OF ORDER**

**Section 1: General**

- a) Any member addressing an Officer or other member of this Local Union shall use the term: "Brother" or "Sister" and no other title.
- b) Sectarian discussion shall be not be permitted at any time during the meeting.
- c) Members shall not enter or leave the meeting during the reading of the Minutes, Initiation of new members, Installation of new Officers, or the taking of a vote.
- d) Members shall not leave the meeting without permission of the Presiding Officer.
- e) All business done in the Local Union or Division meetings shall be strictly secret to all outside the Local Union.

**Section 2: Presiding Officer Authority**

- a) The Presiding Officer shall state every question coming before the Local Union or Division and before allowing debate thereon, and immediately putting it to a vote, shall ask, "Are you ready for the question?"
- b) Should no member rise to speak and the Local Union or Division indicates readiness, the question shall then be put;
- c) After the Presiding Officer has risen, no member shall be permitted to speak upon it.
- d) The Presiding Officer shall take no part in debate while presiding, but may yield the Chair to the First Vice-President in order to speak on any question before the meeting, or to introduce a new question.
- e) The Presiding Officer shall have the same rights as any other members to vote on any question.
- f) The Presiding Officer can choose to refrain from voting until a tie vote is indicated at which time, they may cast their vote to break the tie.

**Section 3: Request to Speak**

- a) To speak or offer a motion, a member shall rise in place and respectfully address the Presiding Officer
- b) Once recognized by the Presiding Officer, a member shall speak

- c) If a member rises on a point of order or on a question of privilege, they need not wait to be recognized.
- d) When two or more members rise to speak at the same time, the Presiding Officer shall determine which of them shall have the floor.
- e) Every member, while speaking, shall:
  - adhere to the question under debate
  - avoid all personal, indecorous or offensive language
  - refrain from any comments that reflect on the Local Union or any member.
- f) If a member, while speaking, is called to order, he or she shall cease speaking until the point is determined
- g) Once the point is determined, they may resume speaking if it is appropriate to do so.
- h) A member shall not speak for more than ten (10) minutes at any one time, nor more than once on the same question, until all members wishing to speak have had the opportunity to do so, except for the Chairperson of a Committee or the mover or seconder of a resolution
- i) A member may then be allowed to speak again, with permission from the Presiding Officer.

#### **Section 4: Making a Motion**

- a) A motion must be seconded to be entertained by the Presiding Officer;
- b) The mover and seconder must rise and be recognized by the Presiding Officer.
- c) All resolutions and motions, other than those named in Section 6 d), or to accept or adopt the report of a committee shall be presented in writing before being put to the meeting if requested by the Presiding Officer.

#### **Section 5: Amending a Motion**

- a) A motion to amend, or to amend an amendment, shall be in order;
- b) An amendment, or amendment to an amendment, shall not be in order if it is a direct negative to the original motion.
- c) A motion to amend an amendment to an amendment shall not be permitted.
- d) At the request of any member, and upon a majority vote of those present, a question may be divided when it makes sense to do so.
- e) A member may ask for a 'division'
  - Before the Presiding Officer declares the vote on a question,
  - or after a vote has been declared lost or carried,
  - and before the meeting proceeds further;
 A standing vote shall then be taken and the Recording Secretary shall count the same.

- f) Any member having made a motion can withdraw it, with the consent of the seconder provided it has not been debated;
- g) A motion, once debated, cannot be withdrawn except by a majority vote of those present.

**Section 6: Putting the Question:**

- a) A motion for the previous question, when regularly moved or seconded, shall be put into this form: "Shall the main question now be put?"
- b) If adopted, the Presiding Officer shall proceed to take the vote on the resolution and amendments to it (if any) according to their priority.
- c) If an amendment or an amendment to an amendment is adopted, the original resolution, as amended shall be put to the meeting.
- d) Once the question has been put, a motion shall not be in order except
  - to adjourn (without debate);
  - the previous question (without debate);
  - to lay on the table (without debate);
  - to postpone for a definite time;
  - to refer (without debate);
  - to divide
  - to amend.
- e) These motions shall have precedence in the order named.

**Section 7: Motion of Reconsideration**

- a) After a question has been decided, any two members who have voted in the majority may, at the same or next meeting, move a motion of reconsideration.

**Section 8: Suspending the Order of Business**

- a) On motion, the regular order of business may be suspended to deal with any urgent business.
- b) Such a motion shall require a two- thirds majority of those present.

**Section 9: Motion to Adjourn**

- a) A motion to adjourn is in order except
  - when a member has the floor;
  - when members are voting.
- b) A motion to adjourn, having been put and lost, shall not be in order again until fifteen (15) minutes have elapsed.

**Section 10: Appealing the Decision of the Presiding Officer**

- a) If any member shall feel personally aggrieved by the decision of the Presiding Officer, they may appeal to the meeting from such a decision.
- b) When the decision of the Presiding Officer is appealed, the Presiding Officer shall state the decision and the reason for it.
- c) The appealing member shall also briefly state the reason for the appeal, after which, without further debate, the question shall be put to the meeting as follows: "Shall the decision of the Presiding Officer stand as the decision of the meeting?"
- d) It shall require a majority vote to sustain such appeal.

**Section 11: Motions at Divisional Meetings**

- a) A motion properly put to any Divisional meeting shall be put to the other Divisional meetings, exactly as originally presented (but with any amendments if such is the case) without explanation;
- b) The benefit of the result of the vote at other Divisional meetings shall not be given until the vote of the Division has been recorded.
- c) In exceptional circumstances, where guidance may be of benefit to the Local Union as a whole, it may be the prerogative of the President, or Presiding Officer, to clarify the issues.

**ARTICLE D FINANCIAL POLICY MANUAL**

**Section 1: Financial Policy Manual**

A Financial Policy Manual shall:

- a) Be created
- b) Set out reimbursements to members, committees and other out of pocket expenses;
- c) Deal with any other matters which involve financial obligations to the Local Union;
- d) Be subject to review and revision by the Trustees from time to time as they deem necessary;
- e) Amendments to the Financial Policy Manual shall be made under the provision of Article 15.

**Section 2: Leave from Work**

Any member who is absent from work on authorized Union business shall be fully compensated by the Union for loss of wages and for any other properly incurred expenses.

**ARTICLE E BALLOTING PROCEDURES**

### **Section 1: Ballots**

- a) As per Article 7 (Elections), balloting procedures shall take the following form:
  - Each ballot shall be a single sided sheet;
  - There shall be a single ballot for each position to be elected;
  - Each ballot sheet shall contain the names of all valid nominations for one position;
  - Each ballot sheet for each position in a given election shall be of a different colour;
- b) A collection of ballot sheets reflecting all positions eligible for election shall be referred to as a ballot book;
- c) Each Division shall have its own ballot book;
- d) Ballots will only be made available to members at the balloting site, during the hours designated for balloting;
- e) Each Division shall have its own ballot box which:
  - Shall be locked;
  - Have a privacy shield to ensure secrecy;
  - Be clearly visible to ensure propriety of the balloting.

### **Section 2: Scrutineers**

- a) Each candidate may appoint a scrutineer;
- b) The candidate must present the name of this scrutineer to the Returning Officer.

### **Section 3: Election of delegates to Convention or Conference**

When there are a number of nominees for delegates to a convention or conference, voters shall be required to vote for the full number of candidates to be elected or the member's ballot will be declared spoiled.

### **Section 4: Balloting Assistance**

The Returning Officer may, upon consultation and approval of the President, appoint members to assist the Election Committee as necessary and required to ensure the proper and orderly conduct of balloting and counting of ballots.

## **ARTICLE F                   ORDER OF BUSINESS**

The agenda for all Union Meetings shall include:

- Call to Order – Reading of the Equality Statement
- Roll Call of Officers
- Adoption of the Agenda
- Reading of Previous Minutes
- Applications for Membership (Voting and Swearing-in)
- Reports
- Nominations, Elections and Installations
- Unfinished Business
- New Business
- Good and Welfare
- Adjournment

## **ARTICLE G                   APPROVAL AND EFFECT**

This revised Constitution and By-Laws shall come into full force and effect upon the adoption by Burnaby Civic Employees Union Local 23, and the approval of the President of the Canadian Union of Public Employees.



